IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-905

In Re: Estate of

Rachael Duffy MAHANEY

Deceased

MARY ELLEN MCENDERFER,

Petitioner,

2nd DCA CASE NO.: 2D03-5358 Circuit Case No.: 03-4278 ES 0004

v.

JOHN C. KEEFE,

Respondent

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Cord C. Mellor, Fla. Bar No. 0201235 Mellor & Grissinger, Attorneys at Law 13801 South Tamiami Trail Suite D

> North Port, Florida 34287 Telephone: 941-426-1193 Facsimile: 941-426-5413 Attorneys for Petitioner

Preliminary Statement

In this brief, the Petitioner will be referred to by name or as Petitioner and the Respondent will be referred to by name or as Respondent. The term "probate court" is intended to refer to the Circuit Court in and for Pinellas County, Florida, in which this case arose, unless a more general meaning is indicated by context. The term "District Court" is intended to refer to the District Court of Appeal for the Second District.

The notation "(R [page number])" shall indicate a reference to the Original Record on Appeal.

Unless otherwise indicated, references to Florida

Statutes in this brief are references to the 2002 version

of the Statutes, those being the statutes which were in

effect at the date of death of the decedent.

Statement of the Case

The Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal for the Second District, which upheld final orders in probate proceedings of the Circuit Court in Pinellas County. (R 39-42) The orders of the probate court which were appealed were entered in a summary administration proceeding under Chapter 735, Fla. Stat., so there is no personal representative appointed to administer the decedent's estate. The only parties to this case are the two devisees whose rights were at issue before the probate court. The Respondent in this proceeding for review was the original petitioner in the probate court, and was the Appellee before the District Court. The Petitioner in this proceeding filed objections to the original petitions in the probate court, and was the Appellant before the District Court.

In this case, this court is asked to rule on the rights, if any, which a general devisee has in the decedent's homestead, where the homestead is freely devisable but is not specifically devised by the testatrix, and where there is no other property passing under decedent's will out of which the general devise can be

satisfied. At the time the probate court ruled in this case there was no published Florida appellate decision on this question. While the appeal in this case was pending before the Second District Court of Appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal announced its decision in the case of Warburton v. McKean, 877 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). The Warburton decision was cited in the briefs and discussed in the arguments of counsel before the Second District Court of Appeal. In upholding the probate court in this case, the District Court recognized and certified conflict between its decision and the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Warburton. The District Court also certified the following as a question of great public importance:

WHERE A DECEDENT IS NOT SURVIVED BY A SPOUSE OR ANY MINOR CHILD, DOES DECEDENT'S HOMESTEAD PROPERTY, WHEN NOT SPECIFICALLY DEVISED, PASS TO GENERAL DEVISES BEFORE RESIDUARY DEVISES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 733.805, FLORIDA STATUTES.

The certified question is identical to the question certified by the Fourth District Court. This Court has accepted the decision of the Fourth District Court for review and has heard oral arguments in that case (McKean vs. Warburton, Supreme Court Case No. SC04-1243).

Statement of Facts

The decedent Rachael Duffy Mahaney died testate on 21 April 2003. She was not survived by a spouse or minor child. The parties to this appeal are the only two devisees named in decedent?s last will dated 19 April 1990, which was admitted to probate without objection (R 3). Both Petitioner and Respondent are collateral kin of the decedent: Petitioner is the decedent?s grandniece; Respondent is the decedent's nephew.

Except for provisions regarding possible disposition of tangible personal property by separate writing, the entire dispositive plan of the decedent?s will (R 3-6) is set forth in Article III of that instrument, which reads as follows:

ARTICLE III

?All the rest, residue and remainder of my estate and property, real, personal and mixed, of whatsoever nature, wherever situated, of which I may die seized and possessed, and to which I may be or become in any way entitled or have any interest, and over which I may have any power of appointment, I devise as follows:

A. The sum of Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000)

to my grandniece, MARY ELLEN SHEA McENDERFER, absolutely and in fee.

B. My remaining residual estate to my nephew, JOHN CHRISTOPHER KEEFE, absolutely and in fee.?

At her death the decedent owned her single-family residence in her sole name. The decedent owned no other property of value which passed under her will.

On 27 May 2003 the Respondent filed a combined Petition for Summary Administration and Petition to Determine Homestead Status of Real Property (R 7), seeking (1) to have the decedent?s will admitted to probate, (2) to have the decedent?s residence determined to be exempt homestead under Florida law and (3) to have it determined that the residence passed to Respondent as exempt property under the residuary clause of the will. The Petitioner objected to the granting of any of the relief requested by Respondent beyond admission of the will to probate (R 19), and filed a memorandum in support of her objections (R 33). On 4 September 2003 the Circuit Court heard arguments on the Respondent?s petition and Petitioner?s objections thereto. On 9 October 2003 the Circuit Court entered the orders appealed from, overruling Petitioner?s objections and granting all relief sought by Respondent (R 39-42).

Standard of Review

All points of error asserted by the Petitioner relate to the District Court?s determination of the legal effect of undisputed evidence and are, therefore, questions of law. Bradley v. Waldrop, 611 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). All points of error asserted by the Petitioner relate to the District Court's interpretation of the actual text of the will, which speaks for itself, and the application of the law to that document. Consequently, all asserted points of error are subject to review by this Court under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Bradley, Id., Furthermore, since this Court can review the exact same evidence as reviewed by the District Court, there is ?no presumption, or, at best, only a slight presumption, in favor of the correctness? of its decision. Julian v Julian 188 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966); Terrace Bank of Florida v Brady 598 So.2d 225 (Fla 2nd DCA 1992). The District Court?s Order resulted from misconceptions of the rules of law and their application to the decedent?s will. In the absence of such misconceptions a different decision would have been rendered.

Summary of Argument

The decision of the District Court of Appeal for which Petitioner seeks review purports to resolve apparent conflicts between the preferences given under Florida statutes and case law to pre-residuary devises and the privileges attaching to homestead property when devised to persons entitled to claim the benefits of the homestead exemption from forced sale under Florida's Constitution. That such conflicts appear to exist is undisputed, and is evidenced by the fact that another case with similar facts has already been accepted for review by this Court.

Unfortunately, the District Court's decision was premised on fundamental errors concerning (1) proper classification of the devises in this case; (2) the differences in priority given to these devises under Florida law and (3) the particular nature of the case under review and the consequent implications regarding the applicability of law relating to the powers of a personal representative. These errors prevented the District Court from effectively analyzing and resolving the apparent conflict, and the resulting holding cannot be viewed as reflecting current Florida law.

Raising a question of law on which the parties did not disagree, the District Court erroneously characterized the devise to Petitioner in this case as a "quasi-general" residuary devise, a classification unknown to Florida law. Proceeding from this premise, the District Court found no persuasive expression of decedent's intent to give priority to her devise to Petitioner, despite the fact that the devises are phrased and structured in a classical fashion designed to establish the priority of one over the other.

It is a fact that most of the decisions which set forth Florida law regarding a decedent's homestead involved cases where an appointed personal representative was either a party to the litigation or an interested by-stander, often where creditor claims were an issue. It is thus not surprising that the District Court's opinion is interspersed with statements and conclusions about what the personal representative may and may not do when homestead is involved. This case arises in the context of a summary administration proceeding, where no personal representative is appointed but where the probate court is called on nonetheless to exercise its jurisdiction to construe wills and determine how property has passed under the terms of wills. Thus in this case the District Court had the

opportunity to affirm the principle of Florida law that places primacy on the determination of who receives protected homestead, not how it passes. Instead, the District Court erred by ignoring the procedural origins of this case, and by basing its decision about the Petitioner's claim on cases which deal solely with the powers of the personal representative and the rights of creditors.

The question certified to this Court by the District Court included a reference to the application of the probate abatement statute, §733.805, Fla. Stat..

Petitioner's argument will admit that the abatement statute is relevant to this case because it illustrates how the Florida Probate Code reflects pre-existing general principles about the preferences to be given to different kinds of devises. However, the statute is not dispositive of this case, and indeed could not be dispositive as to any case involving protected homestead.

The decision of the District Court, if upheld by this Court, would stand for the creation of a new restraint, not previously recognized in Florida law, on the freedom of individuals who are not survived by spouse or minor child

to devise their homesteads to anyone they wish, in that it eliminates the pre-residuary general devise as a method by which a testatrix can give an interest in what may well be the only asset passing under her will.

Inasmuch as this Court may be reviewing this case in conjunction with the decision of the Fourth District Court in Warburton, Petitioner argues in this brief that the Warburton opinion, although raising an unnecessary issue through some unfortunate choice of terms, is based on sound reasoning from valid precedents set by this Court, and should be viewed as a correct decision on a case of first impression in Florida.

I The District Court improperly classified the devises to both Petitioner and Respondent as residuary devises, which is inconsistent with settled Florida law and constitutes reversible error.

The District Court's opinion states, with respect to the devises to both Petitioner and Respondent, that

". . . both devises in this case were in the residuary clause, a fact we believe weighs against McEnderfer's contention that the decedent intended to favor her."

In a footnote following this statement, the court states:

"Both are residuary devises as both are in the residuary clause of the will. This raises the question of whether the devise to McEnderfer is, in fact, a general devise or whether it is a residuary devise that functions as a "quasi-general" devise for the purpose of abatement."

McEnderfer, Slip opinion, p.5. The classification of the devises to Petitioner and Respondent as general and residuary devises, respectively, was never an issue disputed by the parties in this litigation, in the probate court or before the District Court. The principles governing classification of devises are well-established in Florida law. There are four principal classifications under which devises may be grouped: specific, general, demonstrative and residuary. Park Lake Presbyterian Church v. Estate of Henry, $106 \text{ So.} 2d 215 \text{ (Fla. } 2^{\text{nd}} \text{ DCA } 1958\text{)}.$ In classifying devises, a court must give effect to the total will and determine the testatrix's intent as gathered from the complete instrument. Id. at p. 217. The unique identifying characteristic of a general devise is that it has as a prerequisite of designation by quantity or amount. Id., at p. 217. Of the two devises in the will before the court in this case, only one (the devise to Petitioner) specifies a quantity or amount. The devise to Petitioner is clearly a general devise, regardless of the fact that it is contained within an Article of the will which begins

with the words "All the rest, residue and remainder of my estate..".

The District Court opinion correctly states that neither of the parties raised the possibility that the devise to Petitioner was "... a residuary devise that functions as a "quasi-general" devise...". McEnderfer, Slip Opinion, p. 5, footnote 1. A WestLaw ® search on the term "quasi-general devise" does not produce a reference to that term in any published Florida appellate decision other than the District Court's opinion under review. Petitioner argues that no such classification of devise exists under Florida law. Park Lake Presbyterian Church, Id. However, if such a concept exists in Florida law (perhaps referred to by some other term), then the District Court misstates the application of such a classification to this case. Florida law would in fact treat the devise to Petitioner as a "quasi-general" residuary devise, then the District Court's conclusion that "...(it does not) appear that the answer would make a difference in this case ... " is wrong. Treatment of Petitioner as a residuary devisee would place her on the same level of priority as the Respondent, entitled thereby to share in the protected homestead property. Petitioner makes clear that this is not her

argument, but points out the District Court's error in the matter as indicative of the District Court's misapplication of settled law.

The District Court's erroneous classification of the devise to Petitioner led the court to conclude that the devise to Petitioner enjoys no priority or preference under Florida law. To the extent this reasoning and conclusion supports the District Court's ultimate decision based on Florida homestead law applicable to the case, it constitutes reversible error.

II The District Court erred by disregarding the decedent's plainly expressed intent and ruling that in the absence of a specific devise of the homestead, the homestead passed exclusively to the residuary devisee, with the result that the pre-residuary general devise was left unfulfilled.

The District Court's decision disregards and contravenes the intentions of the decedent as expressed in the plain language of her will. In Article III of her will, the decedent clearly expresses her intent as well as her understanding of the differing qualities of the two gifts she is making (R 3&4). After defining the extent of the gift she wishes to make to Petitioner in monetary terms (?The sum of Thirty Thousand Dollars...?), the decedent then

uses that gift as a referent to define the extent of her gift to Respondent (?My remaining residual estate...?)

(emphasis supplied). The probate court erred in disregarding this unambiguous language of the decedent?s will which classified and prioritized the two gifts she wished to make.

As a preface to that portion of the Florida Probate

Code which contains rules for will construction, ?732.6005,

Fla. Stat. , provides as follows:

- (1) The intention of the testator as expressed in the will controls the legal effect of the testator's dispositions. The rules of construction expressed in this part shall apply unless a contrary intention is indicated by the will.
- (2) Subject to the foregoing, a will is construed to pass all property which the testator owns at death, including property acquired after execution of the will.

In its analysis of the decedent's intent based on the terms of her will, the District Court correctly describes the Petitioner's position as being based on "...the assumption that in preparing the will, the decedent relied only on the general rules governing the priority of devises." McEnderfer, slip opinion, p. 4. The District Court opinion advances another theory — that the decedent "...relied on the protection afforded to homestead property

when she prepared her will". The fundamental error of the District Court decision (and of the probate court orders which it upheld) is the assumption that these two theories must inevitably be in conflict when the only property passing under the will is protected homestead. Petitioner argues, and this Court should find, that in this case where both she and Respondent are "heirs" of the decedent entitled to the benefits of protected homestead, these two assumptions may both be true.

The correct interpretation of decedent's intent can be reached through analysis of some very simple statements:

Decedent was obviously aware of her close family relationship to both devisees. Decedent may be presumed to have been aware that her homestead property would be protected for the benefit of these "heirs", and that it was not necessary for her to specifically give the homestead to anyone in order for this protection to inure. What is certainly true is that decedent was aware that if she wanted to make a gift to one devisee in a way calculated to maximize the chances that it would satisfied first, the way to do that would be to describe and limit the value of the gift, and to require that only property "remaining" after its satisfaction pass to other devisee. The District

Court's failure to give primacy to the decedent's intent as it appears from these simple propositions was fundamental error, and its decision should be reversed.

III The District Court disregarded the fact that the probate Court order appealed from was rendered in a summary administration proceeding, which does not involve the appointment of a personal representative. To the extent the District Court's based its decision on statutes and case law regarding the powers of the personal representative, the court misapprehended the law applicable to this case, which is reversible error.

The probate proceeding in this case was commenced with the filing of a petition for summary administration under Chapter 735 of the Florida Probate Code (see §735.201, Fla. Stat., et seq.) combined with a petition to determine protected homestead real property, under Rule 5.405, Fla. Prob. R. Summary administration is a procedure whereby ownership of a decedent's property is determined directly by the probate court, without the appointment of a personal representative. The District Court opinion initially mentions that the Respondent "...filed a combined Petition for Summary Administration and Petition to Determine Homestead Status of Real Property...", but then ignores that important fact in the balance of the opinion. Indeed, the District Court's discussion and its conclusions are

clearly grounded in the premise that the intervention of, and sale of the homestead by, a personal representative is essential if the devise to the Petitioner is to be honored. In concluding its analysis of relevant constitutional provisions and case law, the court states:

"...that title vested in Keefe at the time of decedent's death, and that because Keefe was an "heir", the property maintained its exempt status and never became property of the estate subject to the control of the personal representative."

<u>McEnderfer</u>, slip opinion at p.3. (emphasis supplied). In the same vein, in stating its holding in the case, the District Court pronounces:

"Because homestead property does not become an asset in the hands of the personal representative, it cannot be used by the personal representative in this case to satisfy the devise to McEnderfer."

McEnderfer, slip opinion at p.5. (emphasis supplied).

These are certainly correct statements of an established legal principle (that protected homestead is beyond the control of the personal representative), but that is a principle which is applied in error to this case. Its misapplication indicates the District Court's failure to understand the relevance of the type of probate proceeding under review by it.

Summary administration is a procedure in which the probate court may deal with a wide range of the tasks and problems that also occur in the more familiar "formal administration" under Chapter 733, Fla. Stat. include determining the validity of wills and construction of the terms of wills, determination of intestate heirs, and determination of the rights of heirs or devisees to particular interests or property. §735.206, Fla. Stat., Rule 5.530, Fla. Prob. R. The proceeding is provided by the Probate Code to allow interested persons to settle estates where creditor claims are time-barred, or where the value of assets which are not exempt from creditor claims is relatively small. §735.201, Fla. Stat. Summary administration is fully a "probate proceeding", sufficiently so to afford the probate court the jurisdiction necessary to provide complete relief to the petitioners which resort to it. This includes the jurisdiction to enter orders determining protected homestead property. In re Noble's Estate, 73 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1954), Rule 5.405, Fla. Prob. R., §19.46 Practice Under Florida Probate Code, 3rd Edition (Florida Bar Continuing Legal Education, 2003). As noted in the previous paragraph, there is no provision for appointment

of a personal representative in a summary administration proceeding, and concepts which assume the existence of a personal representative driving the probate process have no relevance.

The Petitioner admits that before the probate court she argued against the granting of any relief on the Respondent's petition beyond admitting the will to probate. Petitioner specifically argued against granting summary administration on the grounds that the conflicting devises to Petitioner and Respondent might be construed as an implied direction to sell the decedent's homestead, thus requiring appointment of a personal representative. (see Knadle v. Estate of Knadle, 686 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) At the time, and because Respondent chose to combine his petitions before the court, such arguments were considered necessary to support Petitioner's primary arguments, which were (and are) that Respondent, simply by virtue of his status as residuary devisee, cannot thereby stand as the sole devisee of decedent's homestead.

If this Court reverses the District Court and finds that Petitioner as well as Respondent enjoys the status as devisee of the protected homestead, it will be necessary to

remand the case for further proceedings to establish the respective interests of the parties. Petitioner argues that such determination can take place within the context of a summary administration proceeding, since that is no more than the exercise of the probate court's jurisdiction to determine the entitlement to protected homestead as well as all other property of the decedent. In re Noble's Estate, Id. The probate court will, of course, be bound by this court's ruling that Petitioner and Respondent, although their devises are different in character, are both "heirs" of the decedent, and as such both are entitled to assert the exempt status of the property as protected homestead. Snyder v. Davis, 699 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1997). It is well within the competence of the probate court to interpret the provisions of wills so as allocate interests in the decedent's property. In the instant case, the devise to Petitioner is defined in terms of a dollar value, and that of Respondent is necessarily defined as what remains after Petitioner's interest is determined. making such allocation the probate court may and should require the parties to produce evidence as to the fair market value of the property, so that the court may properly fix the undivided fraction of the property devised to Petitioner under the will.

IV A discussion of §733.805, Fla. Stat. is relevant to the proper analysis of this case, but the statute is not dispositive of the case as suggested by the certified question framed by the District Court.

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