#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC05-905** 

In Re: Estate of Rachael Duffy Mahaney,
Deceased

MARY ELLEN McENDERFER,

Petitioner,

2<sup>nd</sup> DCA CASE NO.: 2DO3-5358 Circuit Case No.: 03-4278-ES4

JOHN C. KEEFE,

Respondent.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas G. Tripp Florida Bar No. 0377597 4930 Park Boulevard, Suite 12 Pinellas Park, FL 33781 Telephone (727) 544-8819 Attorney for Respondent

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the Trial Court and the Second District Court of Appeal were correct in their decisions and the Second District Court of Appeal's decision should be affirmed and the certified question answered in the negative. Both the Petitioner and the Respondent agree that abatement under Fla. Stat.

733.805 does not apply to protected homestead property, since homestead property is not part of the estate and that statute is only meant to establish a hierarchy of assets amongst estate assets.

Respondent, as the residual devisee of the decedent's homestead property is entitled to the protection under Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution which would prohibit any forced sale or division of the decedent's homestead in order to satisfy a specific cash bequest to the Petitioner. The Respondent is both an heir at law and a devisee of the decedent's homestead under the decedent's will and, as such, the homestead is protected and vested by operation of law at the time of the decedent's death to the benefit of Respondent. There were no cash assets or assets that could be sold to pay the devise of \$30,000 to the Petitioner, so that devise fails as the homestead property was not part of the probate estate.

The will in this case did not provide that the homestead would be devised to a non-lineal descendant nor that it be sold to satisfy specific gifts in the event the assets of the estate are insufficient to pay other devises. As the homestead never becomes part of the probate estate it can never be subject to division. To award the Petitioner a portion of the decedent's homestead would be contrary to the express intent of the decedent's will.

The Second District Court opinion was correctly based on fact and law and the decision should be affirmed.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

In the case before this Court there is a stipulated set of facts and there are no issues of fact presented on appeal. As this Court is applying law to known facts the Court will apply the *de novo* standard of review in rendering a decision in this cause. <u>State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 2001).

II. THE DECEDENT'S HOME WAS PROPERLY DEVISED UNDER THE RESIDUAL CLAUSE OF HER WILL TO A PROTECTED HEIR, AND AS SUCH, DOES NOT BECOME PART OF THE DECEDENT'S PROBATE ESTATE.

The facts of this case, to the most important extent, are indistinguishable from the facts of <u>Snyder v. Davis</u>, 699 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1997). In <u>Snyder</u>, there was a cash devise to a son, a cash devise to two friends, and then a residual devise to a granddaughter, Snyder, that included the decedent's homestead. The Personal Representative in the <u>Snyder</u> case sought to sell the homestead property "to satisfy creditor's claims, to fund specific bequests, and to pay the costs of administration." <u>Snyder</u>, at 1000. The residuary beneficiary in <u>Snyder</u> asserted that the decedent's

homestead passed to her free of claims based on the same protection urged here under Art. X, Section 4., Fla. Const. As in the facts of our case, there was no dispute in the Snyder case that the home was indeed the decedent's homestead property for the purpose of distribution or that said property was properly devised in the residuary clause of her will. The sole issue in the Snyder case was whether or not the granddaughter could be properly considered an heir under the homestead provision as her father was still living. In our case, it is undisputed that Respondent is an heir under Sec. 731.201(18), Fla. Stat. (2002). In Snyder, this Court found that the homestead in question was indeed exempt as it was protected homestead. So, if the only distinction between our facts and the facts of the Snyder case is that Ms. Snyder, at that time, was possibly not an heir for purposes of Art. X, Sec. 4 where the Respondent is clearly an heir for Art. X., Sec. 4, then it would seem that further discussion or argument as to whether or not the homestead in our facts is exempt and not part of the estate makes no sense given the clarity of our facts and homestead protection provided by Florida law.

III. FLA. STAT. 733.805, THE ABATEMENT STATUTE, IS IRRELEVANT TO THIS CASE AS IT ONLY DETERMINES HIERACHY AMONG ASSETS THAT ARE WITHIN THE

#### ESTATE.

Fla. Stat. 733.805(1) provides an order in which assets would abate in order to pay expenses and superior devises under a will that does not otherwise state a priority amongst devises.

"733.805 Order in which assets abate.

- (1) Funds or property designated by the will shall be used to pay pay debts, family allowance, exempt property, elective share charges, expenses of administration, and devises, to the extent the funds or property is sufficient. If no provision is made or the designated fund or property is insufficient, the funds and property of the estate shall be used for these purposes, and to raise the shares of a pretermitted spouse and children, except as otherwise provided in subsections (3) and (4) in the following order:
  - (a) Property passing by intestacy.
  - (b) Property devised to the residuary devisee or devisees.
  - (c) Property not specifically or demonstratively devised.
  - (d) Property specifically or demonstratively devised."

Fla. Stat. 733.805 has no application in a case where the sole asset is protected homestead which passes outside of the estate as the statute itself only controls "the funds and property of the estate". Petitioner does not argue the certified question is dispositive of the case as they indicated in their summary that Fla. Stat. 733.805 "could not be dispositive as to any

case involving protected homestead."

It is clear from the Second District Court of Appeal's decision that they did not believe that the abatement statute applied; however, Fla. Stat. 733.805 was the issue utilized in the Warburton case that was certified as a conflict and for this reason it appears before this Court for its decision. It would appear that neither the Second District Court of Appeal nor the opposing party in this litigation believe that Fla. Stat. 733.805 controls in this case.

IV. PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT GOES AGAINST THE STATED INTENT OF DECEDENT'S WILL AND IS WITHOUT AUTHORITY OR PRECEDENCE UNDER FLORIDA LAW.

There is no exception within Florida statutes, or the Florida Constitution, or case law construing either that would permit the sale or division of protected homestead to satisfy a cash bequest.

The decedent clearly devised a sum of money to the Petitioner, yet the Petitioner asks that that sum of money be changed into a prorated portion of the protected homestead. The Petitioner attempts to have this Court engage in estate planning for the decedent by applying a fractional formula devise technique after death. Clearly this is one of the things that estate planning practitioners discuss with a client, depending on his assets;

however, it is completely inappropriate for the Petitioner to attempt to have the Court fractionalize protected homestead property absent an express intent on the part of the decedent. The Petitioner is unable to assert the protection and exempt status of the decedent's property as exempt homestead as she was only devised money and nothing within the residuary. The request that Petitioner is making of this Court could only be honored if the will stated that the Petitioner and the Respondent were to split the residuary that included the homestead. For this argument, the Petitioner attempts to rely on <u>Snyder v. Davis</u> where this Court could have awarded the son his \$3,000.00 portion of the homestead; however, that was not a consideration in the <u>Snyder</u> case nor should it be a consideration here.

The Petitioner's argument only makes sense where we are dealing with residuary assets that are non-homestead. If the residuary were a piece of commercial property, then clearly the Petitioner's argument would have merit and would have, frankly, been resolved at the Circuit Court level as commercial property valued at the amount that this home is valued at, would be part of a fully probated estate with the Circuit Court Judge having the authority to distribute the probate assets between the two devisees.

#### V. TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DID NOT CONSIDER PETITIONER'S

#### "HIGHER PRIORITY PRE-RESIDUARY ARGUMENT."

The Petitioner's attempt to argue that this Court should satisfy the cash devise prior to funding the residual clause fails recognize the stipulated fact that this is indeed the decedent's homestead. In <a href="Estate of Hamel v.">Estate of Hamel v.</a>
Theodore Parker, P.A., 821 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), this Court noted "Despite the change in the Constitution, Florida Courts have continued to hold that homestead does not become a part of the probate estate unless the testamentary disposition is permitted and is made to someone other than an heir, i.e., a person to whom the benefit of homestead protection could not inure." <a href="Hamel">Hamel</a>, at 1279. The homestead here is clearly devisable as was the homestead in the Hamel case, as was the homestead in the Snyder case.

The Petitioner's request to have her cash devise settled out of the protected homestead is also contrary to Sec. 733.608 Fla. Stat. which specifies: "(1) All real and personal property of the decedent, except the protected homestead, within this state and the rents, income, issues, and profits from it shall be assets in the hands of the personal representative:

(a) For the payment of devises, family allowance, elective share, estate and inheritance taxes, claims, charges, and expenses of the administration and obligations of the decedent's estate."

Obviously, the only mechanism by which the Petitioner's devise could be paid was if the homestead was in the hands of the personal representative as prohibited by Sec. 733.608 Fla. Stat. Further statutory guidance is obtained from Sec. 733.607 Fla. Stat. – Possession of estate

"(1) Except as otherwise provided by a decedent's will, every personal representative has a right to, and shall take possession or control of, the decedent's property, except the protected homestead, but any real property or intangible personal property may be left with, or surrendered to, the person presumptively entitled to it unless possession of the property by the personal representative will be necessary for purposes of administration..."

No case cited by the Petitioner has provided a rationale or a reason for the stipulated homestead property in our case to become part of the probate estate. In our case, it could have, for example if Ms. Mahaney, the decedent, had specifically stated within her will that she wished all of her property to be sold and the proceeds to be divided amongst her heirs. Unfortunately for the Petitioner, those are not our facts. Our facts are to the contrary; one devise of cash, everything else, which would include the homestead, to the Respondent.

The only case that actually lends support to Petitioner's position is <a href="Warburton v. McKean">Warburton v. McKean</a> which is of course now under the review of this Court.

In the <u>Warburton</u> case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that "because the homestead could be freely devised, it was property of the estate subject to division in accordance with the established classifications giving some gifts priority over others." <u>Warburton</u> at 53. This seems not to recognize that the homestead in <u>Snyder</u> could have been freely devised, the homestead in <u>Bartelt v. Bartelt</u>, 579 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) could have been freely devised, as could the homestead in <u>Hamel</u>. The rationale in <u>Warburton</u> makes sense only if the property involved is not protected homestead and was actually part of the probate estate, which clearly are not the facts in our case, or in the cases cited above, or frankly, in <u>Warburton</u>. Clearly, Warburton needs to be reversed.

#### CONCLUSION

The Respondent is both an heir at law and a devisee of the decedent's homestead under the decedent's will and, as such, the homestead is protected and vested by operation of law at the time of the decedent's death to the benefit of Respondent. There were no cash assets or assets that could be sold to pay the devise of \$30,000 to the Petitioner, so that devise fails as the homestead property was not part of the probate estate. Under Art. X, Sec. 4 Fla. Const., the trial court properly found that a petition and order to

determine homestead and summary administration were the appropriate way to handle Ms. Mahaney's estate and pass on her homestead to the Respondent.

The certified question should be answered in the negative and the Second District Court of Appeal decision should be affirmed.